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Monday, September 20, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today the Board is convened in the matter of an application for transmission rates for the years 2011 and 2012 for Hydro One Networks Incorporated.

The application has been designated as EB-2010-0002.  The Board has notice of a motion to be argued this morning, but let's take appearances first.  Mr. Rogers.
Appearances:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  My name is Donald Rogers, and I appear for the applicant.  Assisting me is my associate, Ms. Anita Varjacic.  Also assisting me with the technical side of the case is Mr. Al Cowan to my left, who is director of major applications for the applicant, and Mr. James Malenfant, senior regulatory advisor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Basil Alexander, counsel for Pollution Probe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Alexander.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson.

MS. LEA:  Jennifer Lea for Board Staff, and with me is my co-counsel Maureen Helt and our case manager, Harold Thiessen.  I have also been asked by George Vegh, who is appearing for Bruce Power, to register an appearance for him this morning.  His issues are coming up later in the case, and so he is not here this morning.

I also have one very brief preliminary matter of an administrative nature.

MR. RIVARD:  Brian Rivard and Carl Burrell appearing for the IESO.

MR. CROCKER:  I am David Crocker and I am here with Shelley Grice -- I am David Crocker and I am here with Shelley Grice, and we are appearing for AMPCO.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for BOMA and LPMA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye and David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Richard Stephenson and Bayu Kidane for Power Workers' Union.

MR. LONG:  Richard Long for the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Long.

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger, counsel for Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rodger.

MR. KEIZER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Charles Keizer here for Brookfield Energy Marketing Inc.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Keizer.  Anyone else?

Thank you very much.  As I said, we have notice of motion.  Are there any other preliminary matters, Ms. Lea?
Preliminary Matters:


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  This is an administrative matter, only.  There are certain documents that have been filed in this case in confidence already before we hear this motion argued, and our records indicate that not too many counsel have signed the declaration and undertaking that would allow them access to these documents.  So anyone who does want access to the privileged stuff, I have the declaration and undertakings here for you to sign.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could be permitted to make a very brief opening statement before we deal with the motion Mr. Thompson intends to bring.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please go ahead.
Opening Statement by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Board, in this case the company seeks a revenue requirement of $1,446,000,000 for 2011 and $1,547,000,000 for 2012.

The proposed increase on transmission rates is 15.7 percent in 2011 and 9.8 percent in 2012.  It is estimated that the company's proposals will translate into an increase in the average customer's bill of 1.2 percent in 2011 and 0.7 percent in 2012.

The company has also presented in its evidence its green energy plan, but asks the Board to note that the rate impact over the rate period of 2011-2012 is relatively small.

Most of the costs, some of which are admittedly uncertain, are projected to arise well beyond the rate period under consideration here.

During the course of this case, I anticipate that we will be dealing with the usual issues of reasonableness of the company's cost estimates, but with particular emphasis upon rate impacts.

We have entered a period of serious evolution of the transmission system resulting from the need to refurbish and expand an aging system, and also to accommodate the demands of the Green Energy Act, particularly with respect to the transformation of Hydro One's system, both distribution and transmission, to a gathering function for distributed generation.

Now, in this case, the company does ask for accelerated cost recovery of construction work in process on the Bruce-to-Milton project by, in effect, adding expenditures to date to rate base.  This is something new.

The evidence supporting that proposal is found in Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 5, and will be dealt with by panel one, who are sitting here before you.

On the rate-setting side, or charge determinant side, I anticipate there will be two particular issues which will attract a good deal of attention.

The Board will be asked to consider the so-called High 5 proposal put forward by AMPCO.  My client commissioned a study of the proposal by P.A. Consulting, and we will present a panel to discuss their findings.

We understand that AMPCO will be calling two panels of witnesses to present its views on the subject.

Further, there appears, at the moment at least, to be some serious controversy about the proposed export transmission service tariff.  Hydro One has arranged on its panel 6 to have representatives of the IESO and the consultant Charles River Associates to deal expressly with questions on this issue.

Now, I can tell the Board that there was a settlement conference which resulted in no settlement, but I am instructed this morning that there is a possibility of a settlement of this issue dealing with the IESO and the export transmission service tariff.  It is under consideration, I understand, and I would ask the Board's patience for a day or two until that is sorted out.

Now, Hydro One proposes to call six panels, with the subjects to be covered by each set out at Exhibit A, tab 18, schedule 1.

The first four panels will deal with the usual issues of the revenue requirement.  Each of the first four panels addressing revenue requirement will have on it at least one senior vice president; in the case of panel one, two senior vice presidents.

Now, there is one matter that I would like to draw to the Board's attention.  This has arisen very recently.  Hydro One has determined that there was an accounting error relating to the Hydro-Québec interconnection, which apparently resulted in double counting of the costs of that project in the previous Hydro One rate base.

This is set out in amended interrogatory answer Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 25 filed on Friday last.  I understand that this error was discovered and confirmed while compiling an answer to a BOMA interrogatory.  Once the error was confirmed, it was disclosed immediately in the amended interrogatory answer, Exhibit 1, tab 6, schedule 25.

Further, I understand that Mr. Cowan alerted Board Staff to the error on Friday.

Hydro One apologizes for this accounting error, but I understand that as the rate base was restated for the purpose of this case, this past error has not carried forward and has no effect on the present application.

Questions concerning this past error can be put to the witnesses on panel 4.

Now, as I say, the first four panels will deal with the revenue requirement.  Panel 5 will consist of representatives of P.A. Consulting to discuss the AMPCO High 5 proposal, and panel 6 will deal with issues of load forecast and cost allocation from the company, and, as well, will have representatives of the IESO to respond to questions concerning the export transmission service tariff, should that be a live issue at the time we get to panel 6.

We understand that AMPCO will be calling two panels to deal with its proposals concerning the High 5 charge determinant.

We also understand that Mr. Thompson intends to call a panel of witnesses on behalf of CME to deal with affordability.

So as you can see, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board, we have nine panels of witnesses to be dealt with in a relatively short period of time.  We will do our best to cooperate in providing any necessary additional information to the Board as quickly and efficiently as can be arranged.

Before closing, I would like to alert the Board to the fact that I and my associate, Ms. Varjacic, may of necessity be absent on Thursday, September 30th, because of a commitment in the Ontario Court of Appeal, and if so, we will arrange to have alternative counsel available so that the case can continue in our absence.

Thank you very much, sir.  Those are my opening remarks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Thompson, you served notice of motion and are you prepared to argue it?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am, Mr. Chairman.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  You should have in front of you, Mr. Chairman, a motion book, motion of the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

I have a few copies of this available.  I have two left.  So long as the Panel has a set, I will be referring to that in making my submissions.

MS. LEA:  Usually I am loud enough to be heard without it, anyway.  Mr. Thompson, I think that we will mark this for identification purposes, please.  So that would be K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MOTION BOOK OF CANADIAN MANUFACTURERS & EXPORTERS.

MS. LEA:  Is that right, Mr. Thiessen?  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

In the motion and in the letter that I served on Friday, Mr. Chairman, I asked -- well, the motion at page 3 relies on some documents that were filed in confidence in prior cases.

I would ask that Hydro One bring these so we could have them before the Panel as well when we argue this motion.  And I understand the documents are here and I would ask that they be distributed.

I know these are confidential documents, and perhaps we should identify who in the room hasn't signed the confidentiality undertaking, because they should not receive copies of these documents.  I won't be referring to any of the information in them, but I will be drawing your attention to the documents.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chair, may I ask Mr. Thompson, through you, whether it is absolutely necessary to have these documents before the Panel for the purpose of the motion?

We have no objection to him referring to them.  There is confidential information in them, and it is very unwieldy to have to distribute these.  So if we could -- I wonder if the motion could be argued without actually producing these documents.

 If he isn't going to refer to the details in them, we will certainly agree that they exist.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I would prefer that the documents be in the possession of the Panel Members when I argue the motion.  The picture is worth a thousand words.

I can do without having them distributed to everybody else in the room, if that would be a sensible compromise.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Others may have a point of view on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I agree that the material should be distributed to Mr. Chairman, but I think it is inappropriate for the Panel to have stuff before it that the other participants in the room do not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, you referred, I think, essentially to a logistical issue.

MR. ROGERS:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would it serve if we were to stand down for a few minutes and let that take its course?  And it may also provide an opportunity for counsel who have not executed the undertaking, who do wish to see the documents, an opportunity to do that.

MR. ROGERS:  Very good.  I would have to actually get them.  They are upstairs, so we would need a little bit of time anyway.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So why don't we stand down until quarter after.  Would that provide you sufficient time?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will stand down until quarter after and then proceed from there.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 9:47 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:17 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.  Please be seated.

So I gather that we have been successful in accumulating the document and getting the undertakings signed for all of those who want access to them.

So, Mr. Thompson, are you ready to proceed?  I do not have any of the documents here, I don't think.

MR. ROGERS:  Sir, can I address the Board first before my friend begins?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

Preliminary Matters:


MS. HELT:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair, if I can just interrupt, there is one procedural -- preliminary the matter.  Mr. Lucas Thacker attended at the break and advised me he was here to make an appearance for Richard King, and perhaps he could just do that at this point in time.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Certainly.

MR. THACKER:  Thanks.  It is Lucas Thacker, and I am here for Richard King, who is counsel for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, as well as Five Nations Energy Inc.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

MR. ROGERS:  May I address the Board first, Mr. Chairman?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  I raised with my friend, Ms. Helt, over the break kind of a kind of conundrum I am in.  It is a bit of a Catch-22 here.  We are being asked to produce documents which I claim are not directly relevant to this case, and, moreover, are confidential, for the purpose of the motion to determine whether or not they are relevant and confidential.

In effect, I've lost the motion before it is argued, in a sense.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It seems to me that is our conundrum, as well as yours.

MR. ROGERS:  Exactly.  With your permission, I would like to make a few brief comments as to why I submit that would not be appropriate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Quesnelle was just, through me, sort of enquiring.  It seems to us that the documents that are being sought have been afforded confidential status and have, in fact, been admitted in previous proceedings.

MR. ROGERS:  That's true.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's what they are.

MR. ROGERS:  I think two of the three, yes, that is true.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the -- in which instance, would it not be the case -- I am looking at A, B and C.

MR. ROGERS:  I think C is the February 11th, 2010 Board memo that is signed by Mr. Struthers.  You don't have these, I guess, but signed by Mr. Struthers and Ms. Formusa, who is the president.  Mr. Struthers is the senior vice president, and he will be a witness in this proceeding on a later panel.

The other two have been -- perhaps I can just summarize what they are for you, sir.  That might help.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  The first is a submission to the board of directors of June 18, 2009 concerning the 2010 and 2012 business plan.  It is a consolidated business plan, does not break out transmission from distribution, and it contains forward-looking financial information which the Board has already determined is -- should be given confidentiality protection.  That was filed in a previous case.

The second document is a memorandum of November 11th, 2009, which is the Hydro One 2010 budget and 2011 and 2012 outlook.  Once again, this is on a consolidated basis.  It does not break out transmission from distribution, and, once again, it was signed by Mr. Sandy Struthers, senior vice president and chief financial officer of the corporation.  He will be here as a witness.

That was produced in a previous proceeding, I do believe, on a confidential basis.

The third document is a similar document.  It is dated February 11th, 2010.  It is a memorandum concerning the Hydro One Inc. 2010 budget and the 2011/2012 outlook.  This has not been previously produced, I do believe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  But it is similar in character to the other documents I have referred you to.  They're consolidated outlooks taking transmission and distribution together.  They don't break out transmission from distribution.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder -- I apologize interrupting my friend.  I am just puzzled by one thing.  When I look at the response to the CME interrogatory, there is no claim for confidentiality in that response.  The argument is based on relevance.

Am I now to understand -- I may have missed something, Mr. Rogers, for which I apologize.  Am I now to understand that the claim for not producing it is based on both grounds or just the one?

MR. ROGERS:  I am not sure which my friend is referring to, which exhibit, if it is Interrogatory I-10-1?

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  The stakeholdering consultation?

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rogers.  I am looking at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1, which is the response to CME Interrogatory No. 1.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Let me have a look at it if I could, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just as you are doing that, Mr. Thompson, is it part of your motion -- I didn't read it to be so, but is it part of your motion to have these documents come in on a non-confidential basis at this stage?

So you -- it is your view that signing the undertaking and treatment of these documents as confidential is to continue in the case of the two documents and to be imposed with respect to the third; is that correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  My understanding is that if you concluded they were relevant, I expected my friend would then claim confidentiality --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- for them, and I assumed it would be granted.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  I just wanted to make clear that I think what we're talking about here is that no matter what the decision the Board made with respect to the admissibility of the documents, that they would be afforded confidentiality treatment.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  That is really the second point I wanted to make.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that is clear and that is resolved, I think.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, can I just interrupt here?  My understanding is that if the documents are admissible, my friend then has to claim confidentiality and parties can then make submissions.  Our submission would be that they should not be confidential.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And you will get an opportunity to make that submission, but, as I understand the motion, the motion does not seek to do that.

The motion would protect the documents as confidential, subject to argument from some other party that they would be -- that they may be -- that they ought to be public.  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.  
Just to deal with my friend's submission, Mr. Warren, who referred you to Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1, I understand, there is a document attached in answer to that interrogatory which has been filed.  We are not claiming confidentiality on this.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  This is a public document that Hydro One is quite willing to have discussed in public.  It is a memorandum of May 13th, 2010 to the Hydro board of directors concerning the Hydro One revised application for this transmission case.

And signing that memorandum is Mr. Peter Gregg, senior vice president of corporate and regulatory affairs, who is a member of this very panel.

So I will make this very brief, because I know the Board wants to hear from Mr. Thompson, but first I say these documents he seeks are not relevant in this case, because they are consolidated documents, and you have the specific document on which there is no problem of confidentiality produced of May 13th, 2010 showing the rationale for the rate case, as it is now filed, and a senior vice president here to answer questions about it.

Moreover, sir, you also have in evidence, on a completely open basis a document, a stakeholdering document dealing with the transmission case back in March, sort of the starting point, that said where we were in March, here is what the company planned.  There is nothing confidential about it.  We can deal with that in open court.  And it explained what the company's proposals were in March of 2010.

Subsequently, there was a motion to -- you may recall, sir -- I think were you sitting on the panel, Mr. Sommerville -- dealing with the rate of return that would apply to transmission.  That was unsuccessful.  Some other events took place.  The Minister wrote a letter.

Revisions were undertaken by Hydro One to its transmission plan presently before you, and a memorandum was prepared for the board of directors in May, which I have just referred to, setting out the present application and the reasons and where the application had been modified from the beginning.

So that on the public record, we can discuss with the senior vice president responsible for this the beginning and the end, and, as I say, what went on in the interim is not relevant.

Now, it is always hard to argue there is no relevance to documents like this.  I understand that.  But if there is any relevance, it is so small, in my submission, that it is far outweighed by the prejudicial effect of having these corporations produce these internal memoranda where management is attempting to communicate honestly and openly with its board of directors in these proceedings.  And the prejudice far outweighs the relevance in this particular case, I submit.

I can go on to tell you -- I don't want to bore you with the details, but the genesis of this was these types of documents were first produced to this Board at the very beginning of its regulatory experience at a request of Mr. Kaiser, Vice-Chairman Kaiser who was then presiding, on a voluntary basis to show the Board the type of planning process that this company had in place because you were unfamiliar with it.

In that case, it was relevant to produce this type of information to show the type of planning process that the company goes through.  And we said at that time and I said at that time that we were producing this voluntarily, to help the Board understand the planning process, but that we did not wish it to be taken as a precedent for future cases.

So my friend will probably argue that the ship has already sailed, but with respect, it has not.

 And so I am asking today for a ruling - I'm sorry to be so longwinded about this preliminary, but I wanted you to be aware of our position - that any relevance to this document is far outweighed by the prejudicial effect, and moreover, if they are to be produced, I ask that they be given confidential status.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  I trust that your response to Mr. Thompson's motion will be appropriately concise, having already made it.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  You can count on it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, can we hear your argument, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  I'm sorry to interrupt --

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought we were going to have distribution of the papers.  Mr. Rogers wanted to say something before the papers were distributed, and that is why I think you were brought back in.

So Ms. Lea has made a list and the papers are here, and so I thought we were going to get to that stage.  You folks would have them and then we would move into my argument.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am asking they not be produced, for the reasons that I have stated.

[Board Panel confer]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, the question for you is:  The first two documents, the document of June 18th, 2009, the document of November the 11th, 2009, are those documents sufficiently clear in their format and the content and direction of those documents to be able -- to allow you to make the point that you want to make with respect to the third document, which has not been admitted in previous proceedings?

 Quite apart from -- I understand that you will be arguing that there is a further probative value to that third document, but are the first two documents, distribution of those, sufficient to allow us to know precisely the format of the document and the nature of its direction?

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't know until I see them.  I haven't seen those documents previously, I don't believe.

What I had asked for in the letter, Mr. Chairman, which is at tab -- I think it is tab 9 of my motion.  I had referred to the motion page 3, the subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c).  These are referring to documents in prior cases.

And so the EB-187 decision, for example, was decided May 13, 2009.  0272 was May 28th, 2009.  And the last one was April -- these are the dates of the Decision –- April 9, 2010.

 And I asked Hydro One to bring copies of these materials for distribution to Board Members and counsel.

My point being that what we're asking for is identical in nature to those documents.

I don't know if Hydro One has actually brought those materials to the hearing.  I think what he has brought are the materials we've requested, and to my knowledge the documents of June the 18th, 2009, November 11th, 2009, pertaining to the plans in this case --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- I don't believe they have been publicly filed in confidence.  If they have, then if my friend could refer me to the exhibits, I will take a look at them.

If they haven't, then I suggest we should at least see those two and we can take it from there.  That would be a start, from my perspective.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, could you clarify that?

MR. ROGERS:  I may be confused.  I thought –- I do believe the first two documents have been produced on a confidential basis in prior cases.  It may have been distribution, I think, perhaps, but they have been filed, I believe, in previous cases on a confidential basis.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, let's proceed in this fashion.  We will receive those first two documents; that is, the document of June the 18th, 2009 and the document of November the 11th, 2009.  Let's distribute those documents, which have already been distributed in previous proceedings answer afforded confidential treatment and continue to have confidential treatment at this stage.

 That is subject to further input from others, who may want to suggest that that confidentiality should be withdrawn with respect to them, but let's distribute those two documents now so that Mr. Thompson can -- so that we have that information before us so that we can make some determination about whatever probative value they may have.

Mr. Thompson, with respect to the other documents, that small paragraph (a), (b) and (c) which are referenced in your motion, those are documents that have in fact clearly been provided in other proceedings.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And are, I presume, of like effect?

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you will be in a position to argue, I am gathering, the nature of the documents, and so that we can make an informed decision about the probative value, which I understand, Mr. Thompson, to be one of your objections to their admissibility.

Could we have those documents, please?

MR. ROGERS:  Now, sir, may I just point out that if we are going to be talking about these documents -- I don't want to be melodramatic about this, but there are people in the room who have not signed confidentiality agreements, and I wish -- could we have an order asking only those who have signed the agreement to stay for the --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I thought that was understood.  But certainly we will have an express order to the effect that these documents should be distributed only to those who have executed the confidentiality undertaking.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Rogers, are you asking me to go in camera?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  In the motion, if my friend is going to refer to these documents, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If Mr. Thompson needs to refer to the details within the documents, then we would -- then we would go into camera.

If he can confine his remarks to those of us being able to read the document and he can confine his remarks to not violate the confidentiality of the document, then we don't need to go into an in camera session.

 Is that satisfactory, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's not a novel way of proceeding.  So can we have the documents, please?

Ms. Lea, could you ensure that the distribution is as ordered?

 [Ms. Lea distributes documents.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are we about ready?  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Mr. Thompson.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, perhaps we could have these marked as exhibits at this time.  We will call the June 18th, 2009 document KX1.2 and the November 11th, 2009 document KX1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. KX1.2:  Document dated June 18, 2009.
EXHIBIT NO. KX1.3:  Document dated November 11, 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very much.

As you are aware, this is a motion pertaining to the responses that Hydro One provided to CME Interrogatory Nos. 1 and 2.  You will find those interrogatories at tabs 2 and 3 of the motion record that's been marked as Exhibit K1.1.

Just to draw your attention to a couple of points, first of all, with respect to the answer to CME Interrogatory 1, at tab 2, we asked for complete packages of materials presented to Hydro One's board of directors on each of the dates in the 2010 to 2014 planning cycle, and these dates are referenced in the evidence that Ontario Hydro has filed to support its application here.  And the reference to the evidence is Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 1, and you will find that at tab 6 of the brief, and I will come to that in a moment.

My understanding is that the documents that have been just handed out pertain to the -- two of the three dates that are in the -- that are referred to in the CME Interrogatory No. 1.

In terms of the response, it's I submit noteworthy that the response is framed, it would appear, in relevance, and it is not an assertion that they are irrelevant.  It is, rather, an assertion of Hydro One's belief with respect to relevance.  Hydro One believes the material relevant to the Board is that presented on May 13.

And there is, as my friend, Mr. Rogers indicated, attached to Interrogatory No. 1, some material that went to the board of directors on May 13th for which they're not claiming confidence, interestingly enough.

But there, again, the ground for resisting production of the documents we have requested is Hydro One's belief.  And at the bottom of the page there, the material requested by CME falls into the category of information which the Board felt was internal to the company itself and not determinative of the substantive aspects of the application.

That statement is in reference to a decision that was rendered in the 0187 case on May 13th, 2009 where, at the end of the case, arguments were being made on the basis of statements made in these types of documents.  An argument was being made to the effect that the statements made in the document should lead the Board to refuse the request for relief requested in that particular case, which was for relief in connection with the incremental capital module that the Board established in its IRM guidelines.

But the point is that there was no issue, in that case, about excluding evidence.  It came down to a matter of weight at the end of the case.

And the other aspect of the matter I wanted to mention in terms of that particular decision - and it's referred to in the notice of motion at page 3 - the particular decision on which Hydro One is relying, the May 13, 2009 decision, was followed by two subsequent decisions, the 0272 decision, May 28, 2009, and then the distribution case, 0096, decided in April 9, 2010.

And in all of those cases, including the two subsequent cases, the kinds of materials that we are requesting be produced, illustrations of which have been produced this morning in terms of the two stages, were, in fact, admitted in evidence.  The witnesses were examined on them.  Then at the end of the case, arguments were made pertaining to the results of the examination and what weight should be ascribed to what was disclosed based on examinations derived from these types of documents.

So my simple proposition to you is that the documents we have requested are relevant.  If they're relevant, they must be admitted.  And there is no discretion to exclude them on the basis of Hydro One's belief as to their materiality, and, with respect, there is no basis to exclude relevant documents on some argument as to their relative probative value versus prejudice.  That is not an exclusionary rule of evidence that directly relates to matters, in fact, in the proceeding.  It is a rule of evidence that pertains to indirect type of evidence, usually in reference to character evidence in either civil or criminal cases.

So this whole notion of the prejudicial effect as something you are to consider now in determining whether evidence should be excluded is, in my respectful submission, a proposition that lacks merit.

So why are the documents relevant?  And for that, you need, in my submission, just to look at Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 1, which is at tab 6 of the -- of my motion record.

These documents are integral to the planning process that Hydro One relies on to derive the application that is before you.

At page 1 of this evidence, it says:

"Business planning is performed annually and focuses on the development of a five-year plan which comprises a detailed plan for the first three years in the planning cycle and a less detailed outlook for the remaining two-year period.  The planning cycle in 2009 pertained to the 2010-2014 period.  The results as they apply to 2011 and 2012, the test years, form the basis of the rate submission."

So that the application is a subset of the five-year business planning cycle that Hydro One goes through.

Over on the next page, they describe the key dates applicable to the planning cycle.
"January 2009: strategic direction and goals established by senior management."

Just stopping there, VECC asked for production of the documents pertaining to that stage in the process, and they were produced in full and they are -- I have attached the non-confidential response to that interrogatory at tab 5, and you can look in your copies of the material -- you will have the confidential response to that interrogatory, but that is -- those are the documents relating to step 1 of the process that is described in the planning evidence.

And the documents are produced.  My point is if documents pertaining to the step 1 of the process are produced and relevant, then similarly, documents related to the last three steps in the process are relevant and must be produced for scrutiny by parties opposite in interest to Hydro One.

There is further description as to the nature of the process in the exhibit that I am referring to at tab 6 of the material, at page 5.

This relates to some of the stuff that has been distributed this morning.  The resulting plan underlying assumptions are finalized and presented for approval to the Hydro One Inc. board of directors.

The 2010-2012 budget and outlook was originally approved by the board of directors at its November 11, 2009 meeting.

Those documents, I believe, are what have been marked as Exhibit KX1.2.

It was subsequently updated -- oh, sorry.  That would be KX -- it was the second exhibit that my friend mentioned this morning.  It is the November 11 piece of the material that was distributed this morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I believe we have that as KX1.3.

MR. THOMPSON:  I believe that is the number, sir, yes.

Then it says it was subsequently updated and presented to the February 11, 2010 board of directors' meeting.  That, as I understand it, is the document that is still to come.
"The updates reflect revised assumptions, including application of recent OEB cost-of-capital decisions, which applies to 2010 and subsequent years, cost estimates and scheduling of transmission work programs were also reviewed and updated where appropriate.  The 2010-2012 budget and outlook was subsequently modified to take into account customer concerns with respect to the level of increases proposed for the 2011 and 2012 test years."

The February 11 document may have some reference to customer concerns.  We don't know.  But I believe that is also referring to the May 11 document that is attached to the CME interrogatory -- to the response to CME Interrogatory No. 1.

So I submit to you that all of these documents that we have asked to be produced are clearly relevant to the application and statements made in the application.  Parties opposite in interest are entitled to examine them and use them for the purposes of examining Hydro One's witnesses in this proceeding.

In terms of my client's interest with respect to the documents, apart from the fact that they do contain the five-year plan from which the application is derived -- and I don't believe there is any evidence in the proceeding yet pertaining to that five-year plan, I may be mistaken -- but apart from that, our primary interest pertains to examining these documents first, and then to determine the extent to which customer impacts were, in fact, taken into account and how they were taken into account in this planning process.

And why is that of some significance in this case?  Well, I have attached at tab 7 an article from the Globe and Mail of May the 6th, 2010, to the effect that the government directed Hydro One and OPG to cancel -- to cancel -- the proposed rate increases.

And in fact, we know in this case the Hydro One's application didn't result in a cancelling.  It resulted in a scaling-down of the initially contemplated application by about 25 percent.

So we are interested in determining, through an examination of these documents and an examination of Hydro One's witnesses, how customer impacts were, in fact, taken into account in this entire planning and budgeting process.

It is no answer to say, Well, Mr. Struthers will be here to testify, or some other signatory to the documents will be here to testify, in terms of not producing the documents.  We are entitled to see the documents before we examine the witnesses, and to structure our examination having regard to the contents of those documents.

So, in short, I submit the documents are relevant and they must be produced.

Those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Parties supporting the motion can make brief remarks in support.

Mr. Warren, I see you moving towards the microphone.

Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  I think leaping precipitously is a more accurate description, sir.

The Consumers Council of Canada has a particular interest in this motion, and I would ask the Board to have reference to two interrogatories which we asked.

One is marked as Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 30; that is CCC No. 30.  And the second is Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 1, CCC No. 1.

In the first of the interrogatories -- I am going to take them in reverse order.  In our Interrogatory No. 1, we posed the following questions.

We asked for all presentations or reports made to the board of directors during that period -- that is between March 2nd and May 19th -- we asked for a detailed description of the process HON followed in terms of revising its budget that flowed from the initial budgeting process, and thirdly, a chart explaining the key differences between the original budget and the budgets now contained in the evidence in support of the application.

And to each of those questions, we received the response that Mr. Thompson got to his question, which was, reduced to its essence, that they are not relevant.

The second of the CCC interrogatories was more particular.  We asked for all correspondence between HON and its shareholder regarding HON's application to seek a higher ROE.  And the answer was, again, a reference to the response to Mr. Thompson's interrogatory, which is -- reduced to its essence -- it is not relevant.

Now, the determination of what is or is not relevant does not lie with Hydro One.  It lies with this Board.  Only the Board at the end of the day can determine what is relevant, and so, in my respectful submission, they should see the documents to determine whether they are relevant.

In our submission, prima facie, they are relevant, in particular because if you look at Mr. Thompson's document book this morning, and look at tab 2, in response to Mr. Thompson's interrogatory, Hydro One produced as an attachment a document dated May 13th, 2010 which, at a high level gloss, is a description of those areas in which Hydro One chose to make productions reductions in its application.

So Hydro One has chosen to put one document before the Board in which it provides its description, but simultaneously is denying us information upon which we can examine the entire process and, among other things, ask:  Why did you make this choice and not that choice?  Which is why we wanted all of the documents we asked for in our interrogatories.

In our respectful submission, it is simply unfair of Hydro One to select the document it wants to go forward and deny us the ability to examine that with other relevant documents.

So for those reasons, I suggest, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, the documents must be produced for the Board to examine them to determine these matters.

At a higher level of generality -- and this will conclude my submissions.  At a higher level of generality, when -- is not a lis inter partes.  This is not litigation.  This is a matter in which an applicant is coming forward, in effect, for a privilege; that is, for the authority to charge rates to the public.  And it does not lie in the hands of the applicant to say, I am only going to produce the documents which are favourable to my case, but I am not going to give you the other documents upon which you may be able to argue points that are not favourable to my case.  As a matter of principle, in my respectful submission, if you wish, the bias of the Board should be for broad rules of production, and the Board can determine what is or is not relevant at the end of the day.

There is no prejudice, in my respectful submission, zero prejudice, to Hydro One Networks if these documents are produced, and particularly if they are produced in confidence.  And I note, in passing, that there has never been an argument from Hydro One that they will be prejudiced at all by the production of these documents.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Shepherd.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

This application proposes to increase the transmission bill for Schools over the next two years from $37 million to $45 million, so it matters to us.  And the context of that is, a few years ago, it was $10 to $12 million a year.  In 2012, it is expected to be $23 million.  Schools have to find that money somewhere and we are concerned about this.

That, by the way, is not an isolated increase.  The total of the increases from all sources -- I mean, my friend talks about a 1.2 percent increase next year -- the total is 50 million for Schools in the next two years.

CME is asking for documents that are routinely filed in other proceedings, and the primary reason for this is that original source documents are a truer indication of the rationale for budgets, for proposals, for projects, et cetera.  That's why the Board routinely asks for these things and orders them produced when people resist.

It is because when you see what they actually said internally, you know very clearly what the purpose and intent of actions were.  So you don't ask a utility:  How much tax did you pay last year?  You say, File your tax return, because the source document is more valuable information.

So my first point is the onus is on my friend, Mr. Rogers, to show that the Board's normal practice of getting the best evidence it can get is not appropriate here.

I could give you some examples in the documents that have just been provided of particular -- I mean, I have just spent the last ten minutes looking at these documents.  I am not going to refer to specific things in them, because I don't want to have to clear the room, but all of those yellow tabs, those are all statements in these documents that I have just -- I haven't even got through a third of the pile -- that are directly contrary to the evidence in this case, in my opinion.

I can take you through them, if you want, but I don't think it is necessary.  You can look at them yourself.

So that is why documents like this are valuable.

We have then a second issue here, and that is Hydro One has filed one of this category of documents, and that is the one that is attached to Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 1, and that document is the May document, in which -- and they seek to rely on that to show that they've reduced their revenue requirement by great whopping amounts.  And they say, for example, Our capital or our rate base is $400 million lower in 2011 than we originally planned and $500 million less than we originally planned in 2012.

But if the original application is a straw man, that's not really all that relevant.  So right now, the current application with all of those reductions increases rate base over those two years by $2.24 billion.

Now, you could just look at that in isolation and you could say, Well, the original proposal was going to be $3.15 billion, so what a great reduction, or you could say, No, let's look at how that built up, how that $2.24 billion came into existence to see whether that is justified, whether there are reasons or ways that we, as a Board, can keep that down, because it is a lot of money.  Hydro One admits it is a lot of money.

So our position is that if the information with respect to their cutbacks is relevant to this Board, then the information of how they built up that budget that they then cut back is also relevant.

Those are our submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd.  Anyone else wishing to speak in favour of the motion?  Mr. Faye.
Submissions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Energy Probe submits -- support's CME's motion, but has nothing to add that my friends haven't already adequately argued.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  On behalf of VECC, we similarly support the motion.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  On behalf of BOMA and LPMA, we do.
Submissions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Once again, just briefly, Mr. Chair, we asked interrogatories at Exhibit 1, tab 9, schedule 7 sort of similar to -- on the same issues as were being discussed here, and received the same responses from Hydro One.  And, therefore, we are also in support.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Is there anyone else who wishes to speak against the motion, other than Mr. Rogers?

Mr. Rogers, you have the floor.
Submissions by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Alone again.

I won't repeat the arguments I made at the opening of this.  I will respond to my friends, Mr. Chair.

My friend, Mr. Thompson, argues that the Board basically has no discretion; if it is at all relevant, you must admit it.  While it pains me to say so, with respect, my friend is quite wrong about that, in my submission.

A court does have a discretion to exclude evidence if the prejudicial value outweighs its probative value, and most certainly an administrative tribunal such as you has that authority to exclude relevant evidence if the prejudice value outweighs its probative value.

I submit to you that in this case the probative value of these documents is minimal when compared to the prejudicial effect, and the prejudice is two-fold.

First of all, there is prejudice to a utility to ask them to routinely file communications between management and its board of directors.  There may be cases where it is very, very relevant and any prejudice is outweighed by the probative value.  I agree with that.

But in the run-of-the-mill case, the prejudice of interfering with the management's ability to communicate openly, honestly and candidly with its board of directors is compromised if they know they have to file everything in a public forum like this, even if there are confidentiality limitations placed upon it.  It has a chilling effect on the way management communicates with its board.

How is the management going to communicate with its board of directors on an open and candid basis if it knows everything it says has to be made public?

It is an untenable position to put a corporation in, I submit, and it applies to all corporations that come before you.

So I ask you to exercise your discretion carefully in this case.

Now, it has been argued that, well, Hydro One has selected a document to give to you, and this is the memorandum which my friend Mr. Thompson referred to at tab 2 of its -- his motion record, and it is a document dated May 13th, 2010.  You will see it is at tab 2.

Now, this was filed in response to a request for information.  I mean, they gave the information to my friend on one point because it dealt specifically with the transmission case before you, not on a consolidated basis, not going out with information five, ten years in the future; dealing specifically with this case and with the specific changes that have evolved from the time that the stakeholdering conference was held, which is in evidence, as well, to show the beginning of the transmission case and the end point in the transmission case.

And, moreover, the applicant has brought forward here, in this case, the senior vice president, who is on panel one, Mr. Gregg, who signed this document and reported to the board about these changes, and later on, Mr. Sandy Struthers, who is the senior vice-president of finance, who can deal with it as well. 

So my friends talk about the best evidence.  The best evidence here is from these witnesses who are going to come before you and answer all of their questions.  And really, with great respect, to always ask for the production of these planning documents really is a fishing expedition, in the hope they're going to find something there that they might use to embarrass the witness.

I understand that as a lawyer; in cross-examination, that's –- it can be a valuable tool, but fishing expeditions are different from probative evidence. 

And in this particular case, I do submit to you that the probative value of these documents are really minimal and far outweighed by the prejudicial effect to my client.

Now, the second point on prejudice, and then I will be done, is that it presents very difficult practical problems of dealing with this evidence in a public forum like this.
 It can be done, but it is very, very untidy and difficult. 

I would submit to the Board, with very great respect, that the Board ought to compel the production of confidential documents like this very sparingly, because of -- just because of the administrative problems it creates alone.  And unless there is a very compelling case where it is very important in a case, I would respectfully submit that you ought not to compel the production of these documents, which are confidential, and they're confidential because they contain forward-looking financial information.  I won't go through all of that.

So in this case, I respectfully ask that my client not be compelled to produce this information, but that if they are, I ask that it be given strict confidential protection.

Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

You have a right of reply, Mr. Thompson. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just briefly.
Further Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  I submit my friend cannot just make a bald assertion of prejudice and have you exclude documents.  He has to point to something that is prejudiced, and he hasn't done so with respect to the documents that have been produced.

So that submission, in my respectful submission, has no merit.

It is not a fishing expedition.  We have seen these documents before.  The Board is aware of the extent to which they're used in cross-examination, as my friend Mr. Shepherd points out.  There is a number of statements in the precursors to the May document that my friend would like us to concentrate on that will be relevant to scrutinizing how Hydro One got where it says it reached in May, and so all of the buildup to this particular document can be examined by parties opposite in interest, and particularly so when that entire process is relied upon by Hydro One in its prefiled evidence in this proceeding. 

So I repeat:  The documents are relevant.  They're admissible.  And what weight is made of the results of examination of them and the examination of Hydro One witnesses on them is something for the Board to determine at the end of the case, and not by excluding the evidence. 

Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, just so that I understand clearly your submission with respect to the probative value of the documents, do I understand your view to be that because these are -- these documents have been subsumed by further planning exercises before the Board, that they lack probative value?  They are not the guiding instruction for management?  Is that the --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  That is part of it, that and the fact they're consolidated information dealing with transmission and distribution. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  In your motion, Mr. Thompson, you indicate that you would want to review the documents before you cross-examine the witnesses.  That leaves us with a bit of a -- I don't know whether other counsel are in the same position, but it leaves us with a difficulty for today, or right now, if we can't proceed with the cross-examination on these documents pending the Board's decision on your motion.

Is there somebody who can proceed without reference?

Mr. Alexander?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I am prepared to proceed today, but my cross-examination will be only 10 minutes or so. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay. 

[Board Panel confer]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will retire to deliberate on the motion.  It appears as though an early decision with respect to the motion is of value. 

Thank you, Mr. Alexander.  Your position will be preserved going forward, but I think it best that the Board deliberate and make a decision on this motion right now, which we will do.

We will break until –- well, build in the morning break, and we will come back at noon and hopefully with a decision on the motion, and then we will proceed from there.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:14 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 12:01 p.m.
DECISION:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  The Board has arrived at a decision with respect to the motion.

The motion is granted.  In the Board's view, there is probative value in this documentation of the evolution of the company's thought with respect to its business plan, which ultimately culminated in the application that we're dealing with in this case.

The Board notes that these are highly formalized documents, seeking the approval of the board, signed by the president and the chief financial officer of the corporation.  The fact that the approval sought was not limited, nor were the documents limited, to the transmission side of the business is not fatal to their value insofar as they demonstrate and seek the approval of the board with respect to the business plan which culminated in the application.

The Board does consider that it has the discretion to deny admissibility to materials where the probative value is obviously outweighed by the prejudicial effect of the material.  The Board does not consider this to be such a case.

In the Board's view, the prejudicial effect, specifically the creation of an inhibition of discussion around the Hydro One board table, is not convincing in this case.  The highly detailed and formal nature of these documents, as I have noted, signed by the president and the chief financial officer, suggest that they are obviously not records of discourse, conversation, debate, nor could they consider it to be genuinely formative with respect to the points of view expressed in the documents.

So on that basis, the Board grants the motion.
Procedural Matters:


Now, Mr. Shepherd, you have suggested that you want to make submissions with respect to the confidentiality to be afforded the documents and that, I think, is available to you.

I suppose the correct order, actually, is that Mr. Rogers must first indicate why he thinks the documents should be confidential and you get to suggest why they are not.

Is there anyone else who takes the view that the documents ought not to be received on a confidential basis?  Mr. Shepherd, now you are alone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, before my friend starts, when I made that comment, I had not seen the documents.  And I still haven't seen one of them, but I have now seen two of them and I have identified parts of them that I would agree are confidential.

And, therefore, it may be more appropriate, and what I would propose to the Board, is that the Board find them to be confidential again and that we deal with the extent to which the material is not made public in the redactions, because my friend will have to file a redacted copy anyway.  And we can talk about, then -- and if we have a problem, we can come back to the Board with what should be redacted or not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, do you have a response to that?

MR. ROGERS:  In past cases, the Board has accorded confidentiality to these documents.  They contain forward-looking financial information.  Essentially that is the problem.  And the Board has ruled previously, as well, that it was not practical to redact the documents, and we were not required to do that.

It is difficult to do, because -- I have to look at them again, but, from memory, this information is kind of infused throughout the document.  It is very difficult to redact them.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we will take your suggestion, Mr. Shepherd, with the caveat that the Board, right now, will consider these documents to be confidential in all of their particulars and that the record that we produce through the cross-examination of these documents will be -- will either go in camera if the cross-examiner thinks they cannot manage to ask questions that do not reveal the details of the documents, or will be an open session - and that is our fervent hope - that questioners will be able to ask questions that do not reveal the -- I would ask you to be very diligent in that, and all counsel to be diligent in asking their questions accordingly.

MR. ROGERS:  I can tell the Board in past cases where this has been an issue, that has been the way we proceeded, with a few difficulties, but it worked reasonably well with the cooperation of my friends being careful about the nature of their questions, most of which deal with the rate period, not the forward-looking information which is offensive.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will proceed on that basis.  You can make submissions later on with respect to redactions, and the Board will consider them accordingly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the Board's policy provides that my friend has an obligation to file a redacted copy.  I'm assuming the Board's ruling is that they will meet that policy; they will file the redacted copy.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed, the Board also has I think the authority, pursuant to Rule 5.2.1, to receive the documents now on a confidential basis, and we will deal with any erosion of that position or any submissions seeking the Board to move away from that point of view as we go forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only reason I raise it, Mr. Chairman, is that I have questions for every panel that will refer to information in these documents.

Most of it, I would be very surprised if my friend will have a problem with me asking them on the record.

So the earlier I get a redacted version, the earlier I can prepare my cross for the other panels.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am proposing that we not be compelled to file a redacted version, because of the difficulty I have explained, and I think if my friend, as has happened in past cases, is careful, he can cross-examine on areas which are not confidential in the open record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, there are numerous statements in here that I wish to put to witnesses.  I don't believe that they're confidential.  All I am asking is for my friend to identify what he thinks is really confidential in this.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What may be fruitful is, prior to your cross-examination, to have a discussion with Mr. Rogers on those particulars.

If we find that we are at an impasse, if your question relates to a specific section of the document, to raise that with Mr. Rogers to see if he regards that as -- your question as violating the basic confidentiality of the document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That means I have to tell my friend the details of my cross.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It doesn't mean that you have to tell him the details of your cross, Mr. Shepherd, but it has to -- but you will have to sort of indicate that you expect to ask questions about these elements within these documents.  I don't think that is undue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that prejudices me.  If I have to tell him I am going to put this statement to your witnesses, then he can -- since the witnesses are not on yet, he can go talk to them and say, Well, he is going to put this statement to you.  Let's talk about it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The witnesses are going to go into cross-examination very shortly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the other panels are not.  That's my point.

[Board Panel confers]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It may be, Mr. Shepherd, that the only solution to your situation is to have you cross-examine in camera, and we will consider that as we go forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Our proposal at this stage, given the fact that these documents are relevant to the cross-examination of this specific panel, as to how we proceed between now and, say, 1:30, with respect to cross-examination -- Mr. Thompson, what is your position with respect to proceeding with your cross-examination?  When will you be in a position to do that?

MR. THOMPSON:  I would be in a position, as long as I get attachment 3 that has yet to be produced, today, I think tomorrow I would be ready to go.

We did discuss this on Thursday of last week amongst counsel, Mr. Chairman, and I think there are some people ready to go today, but I am not one of them.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Who is ready to go?  Mr. Alexander, we know that you are ready to proceed.  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Not without reading the document.  Actually, it is my friend, Mr. Crocker, who was going to go next, so he would be the relevant one, but I need to read the document.

MR. CROCKER:  I was going to suggest the same, Mr. Chairman.  We have taken a quick look and have found material in the documents which pertain to areas in which we were going to cross-examine.  There may be more.

I think there is more in here than an hour-and-a-half's worth of reading is going to reveal.  And as much as I don't want to suggest this, because I understand the tight time frames we are all working with, I think it would be more productive to give us the rest of the afternoon to review this and begin serious cross-examination tomorrow morning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have approximately half an hour or so of cross that I could do without reviewing the documents, I think.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would you have to come back for further cross-examination?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I wouldn't be planning on doing so.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Faye?

MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, I have about an hour, but some of it is implicated with the documents that we're talking about, and I would probably have to come back and I might even have to revisit some of the questions I was going to make.

So I would much prefer to read it before I did any.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If we were to break until 1:30, would that change your position?

MR. FAYE:  I would have to read the document.  I can come back at 1:30 and tell you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I am in the same position as Mr. Faye.  I am not prepared to say that I am not going to cross-examine on material I haven't seen, so...

I know that what I have seen in here does affect questions that I was already planning on asking.  How long it is going to take, I don't think an hour and a half is enough.  If you were talking about 3:00 o'clock, then I think that might be different, but I am not sure that that advances us very far.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Long?

MR. LONG:  I won't have any questions today.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there anyone else?  Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  I would prefer to have the opportunity to look at the documents before I would have any questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  I am in a similar position.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, do you have any response to this?

We have very valuable hearing time that we really have to -- this case needs to move reasonably expeditiously in order to avoid the conflicts that we are all thinking of, that there is another case that is looming.

But it looks as though, with the exception of Mr. Alexander and Mr. Buonaguro, that a review of the document is necessary before we can continue.

Do you have any response or proposal?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am surprised that many of my friends who didn't ask for this information now need time to examine it to do their cross-examination.  I would have thought they were ready to go on what they had, but with that observation of a bad sport, I guess, having lost the motion --

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  -- I will move on.

I am concerned about the time, obviously, as I know the Board is.  So what I would propose is that we -- there is another preliminary matter I want to deal with.  I see no way around the -- I understand my friends' position.  Now that we have been ordered to produce these documents, they obviously want to look at them before cross-examining.  I can't quarrel with that.

I mean, I could, I suppose call my panel and get over some of the logistics of this, to use the time best today, but -- and it may be proceed with the one cross-examination of the one party that is ready to go.

That is my only suggestion, sir.  I'm sorry.

[Board Panel confer]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will reluctantly break until tomorrow morning, subject to your preliminary matter that you want to raise, Mr. Rogers.

But we will come back to this tomorrow morning for examination-in-chief and all of the cross-examination, so that it forms a whole, which we think is preferential.

The Board will be particularly alert to no duplication of questioning.  If intervening counsel can possibly coordinate their questions so that there is an avoidance of duplication, that would be very much appreciated.

The Board apologizes to the witness panel, who came today expecting to be -– well, probably it is a bit of a relief rather than –-

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You should be thankful rather than 
-- I am being facetious.  But the Board does appreciate your position and regrets that you are going to much to come back tomorrow, but I think that is the position we are in.

So we will proceed with the evidentiary portion tomorrow.

Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Just one matter, then, if I could, Mr. Chairman.

As the Board knows, the Rules of Professional Conduct prohibit counsel from discussing the evidence with the witness during cross-examination.

I am asking for an order, as is usually granted in these cases - hopefully with the consent of my friends – to -- for relief from that rule, so I might converse with the witnesses during their cross-examination, to deal with technical matters and undertakings.

And once again, I undertake not to abuse the process.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.  The witnesses of course are not subject to cross-examination now and you're free to --

MR. ROGERS:  No, not now, but --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- to discuss the documents with them and so on.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But the Order -- the Board does order that you can, for the purposes of perfecting undertakings -- and the Board has previously given you that latitude, Mr. Rogers, without any cause of any kind for disappointment.  So we will --

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, sir.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, then, do we have the third document in the room?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  All right.  So we will oversee the production of that as soon as we break.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chairman, I too have one preliminary matter that I tried to get to but I was too late in terms of pushing the button this morning and others jumped in.

We are calling, as has been indicated several times this morning, two panels.  The second of those panels is to be made up of three individuals who are involved in running the energy part of their businesses.  And they're AMPCO members.  We haven't prefiled evidence with -- we haven't prefiled any material with respect to what they were -- what they are going to say, because I thought it was obvious.

It's been suggested to me that we -- that isn't appropriate, and that we should file and that we will.

Hopefully, it will -- it will definitely be before they give evidence, and hopefully it will be far enough in advance of their giving evidence that it will give everybody a chance to review.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  That is helpful, Mr. Crocker.

Let me indicate that the Board, as parties know, the Board typically does not sit on Wednesdays.  The Board will be looking at sitting some Wednesdays for the purposes of this proceeding, specifically not this Wednesday coming, but the following Wednesday and perhaps the Wednesday following that.  So the Board is going to look at that and we will keep you posted on that prospect of adding those additional days to ensure that we can complete this appropriately.

I notice that there is some cause for disappointment and elation around that, but we will keep you posted on what Wednesdays we will be sitting and when we won't be.

Okay.  With that, the Board --

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Chairman, sorry to interrupt.  I had understood there was some talk we may not be sitting next Tuesday.  Is there -- has that been resolved or not?  Or am I mistaken about that?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board is not familiar with that proposal.

[Board Panel Members consult with Ms. Lea.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will be sitting next Tuesday, which is the 50th anniversary of the Board; I had forgotten.  It may be that we have to stand down briefly for the Panel Members to be available for some celebratory -- some short celebratory event, but --

[Laughter.]

MS. LEA:  Maybe we will get something.

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  But that is the extent of it.  We will sit on Tuesday.  Thanks very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:21 p.m.
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